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This is one of many sections that contain information, documents, letters, newspaper 
articles, pictures, etc. of the St. Matthews Fire Protection District.  They have been 
collected and arranged in chronological order.  These items were collected, 
organized and entered into a computerized database by Al Ring. Last revised in 
2023. 
 
There were many people who helped with this project over the years, however 3 
deserver special mention.  Rick Albers, John M. Monohan, Jr. and Jack Monohan. 
 
 
All graphics have been improved to make the resolution as good as possible, but the 
reader should remember that many came from copies of old newspaper articles.  
This also applies to other items such as documents, letters, etc.  Credit to the source 
of the documents, photos, etc. is provided whenever it was available.  We realize that 
many items are not identified and regret that we weren’t able to provide this 
information.  As far as the newspaper articles that are not identified, 99% of them 
would have to be from one of three possible sources.  The Courier-Journal, The 
Louisville Times or one of the Voice publications. 
 
Please use this information as a reference tool only.  If the reader uses any of the 
information for any purpose other than a reference tool, they should get permission 
from the source.   
 
 



 

  In The Beginning There Was Fire…………………………… 
                            ……………………..But There Was No Fire Department 
 
Think about that for a minute, its 1919 your living in a fast growing community (St. Matthews).  
Many new homes and businesses are being built all the time, plenty of fields and crops all around, 
motor vehicles, trains, and people, but no fire protection. 
 
Jefferson County Kentucky at the time had a population of about 286,369, Kentucky's one big city 
Louisville had a population of about 227,928 and it did have a fire department and was a neighbor 
of St. Matthews.  Other departments in the County consisted of Anchorage (would not leave their 
area), Jeffersontown, PeeWee Valley and St. Hellen’s along with Camp Zachary Taylor (military 
post).  That was the fire protection available at that time in Jefferson County. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

State of Kentucky 
Courtesy—http://www.digital-topo-maps.com/county-map/kentucky.shtml 

Jefferson County Kentucky 
Courtesy—http://wapedia.mobi/en/Jefferson_County,_Kentucky 



 

Finally a small group of citizens in St. Matthew’s Kentucky formerly Gilman’s Point decided they 
had to have a fire department.   June 11, 1919 they formed the St. Matthews Voluntary Fire Asso-
ciation. Today that fire department is one of the best run and well know fire departments in the 
community.  
 
The following will be a history of the St. Matthews Fire Department including all the people, plac-
es, apparatus and fire houses. It will also cover much of the history of the community itself and 
how the community grew and prospered focusing on the business community which brought much 
of the growth.   
 
When the department started Jefferson County had a population of 286,369 in 2008 it is about 
750,000, quite a growth.  St. Matthews was very small in 1919 by 2008 the City of St. Matthews 
had a population of about 18,709 but the St. Matthews Fire District has a larger area than that and 
the population would be way over that amount. 
 
Chief John M. Monohan, Jr., Chief from 1941 to 1977 said when he retired — “Steady growth.  
That’s been the biggest accomplishment of this department.  We’ve tried to grow faster than the 
community so we can provide adequate fire protection at all times.”  The department has succeed-
ed in this but as you will see it has quite a story to do it. 
 
 
1989/AAA 
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Courtesy http://www.louisvilleky.gov/LouisvilleFire/LFD_History_Full_Text.htm                            Edited 
 

Louisville Fire Department:  The history of Louisville's Fire Department begins in 1780; only two years after the 
city came into existence. Having begun with a mere handful of settlers Louisville soon recognized its need for fire 
protection. Accordingly, the first fire brigade was initiated in 1780 in order to meet the demands of a growing 
population. Records provide no evidence of major blazes at this time; indeed, the city had scarcely developed past the 
possibility of minor fires involving little damage of property. Nevertheless, our ever-practical ancestors realized that 
threat of fires goes hand in hand with a City's development, and these same practical people were ever prepared to 
meet the challenge. 
 

Dramatic change in equipment was promptly followed by dramatic change in fire personnel. On the evening of May 27, 
1858, the General Council organized the Steam Engine Fire Department of Louisville, to be effective June 1, 1858. The 
Division of Fire consisted of three fire stations: #1 at Preston and Jefferson; #2 on Jefferson Street between Sixth and 
Seventh; and #3 on Main above Shelby Street. A. Y. Johnson (a- member of the mechanics company) was appointed 
Louisville's First Fire chief, and his responsibility, with the aid of 65 men, 23 horses and 5 newly purchased steam 
engines, was to provide fire protection for the 70,000 inhabitants of the city. The first official fire run was on July 2, 
1858 to the home of a Mr. Waters, on Campbell Street between Main and Creek Street. The fire damage was estimated 
at $500.00 and the cause was incendiary. The newly formed Fire Department answered 6 alarms the first month and 2 
of them were false. 
 

During the first 10 years of the 20th century, the Department fought 212 multiple alarm fires, and eleven men died in 
the line of duty. 
In the next ten years, the Department showed great progress. Under the leadership of Chief Timothy Leham (1910-17), 
who replaced Ben Dillion killed in an accident while answering a call, Louisville's first training school was established 
for the City's firemen. Leham had visited New York City, and attended seven weeks of training himself. Upon his 
return he stated: "A man, before being appointed to the New York Fire Department, is forced to attend the school for 
firemen. There they teach him the tricks of the trade, how to hoist ladders, stretch hose, manage life nets, and in short, 
everything a fireman needs to know. In Louisville, our firemen are forced to acquire this knowledge by experience. 
And, of course, being new, they are not as good at the work as those who have had the benefit of experience." The 
Chief wasted no time in taking action. The training school was begun in 1919, and the first twenty-three graduates 
were honored on May 3, 1920. A small frame tower was constructed adjacent to Engine Company Number 17 at 1824 
West Garland Avenue, its purpose to allow training under simulated conditions. Other developments included the 
arrival of the first motorized hook and ladder truck in 1915, and the establishment of the Fire Prevention Bureau in 
1920 (during the years of Chief A. Neuenschwander, 1917-24). 
 

In 1917, when Chief A. Neuenschwander took office, he faced a real shortage of manpower, due to the demands of the 
First World War. The depleted ranks were further weakened by a wave of disciplinary dismissals, many involving 
drinking. Many had obviously decided not to jump on the Prohibition bandwagon, but any fireman caught drinking on 
duty was dismissed immediately. (This problem continued until the 30's when Joseph Seligman, chairman of the Board, 
finally said, "We're going to have sober fireman, or none at all!") Other infractions included insubordination, careless 
driving, sending the wrong engine to a location, neglect of duty and making misruns. Not all infractions merited 
dismissal, however. Failure to report to duty after a layoff cost a fireman one day's pay, The personnel were also fined 
(even occasionally discharged) if their conduct was deemed unbecoming, such as cursing a fellow member or showing 
disrespect to a superior officer. 
 

This was a trying time for the Department. The City had 263 multiple alarm fires in the ten-year period, but in line of 
duty deaths claimed only two firemen. This period of history, 1910, 1920, holds the record for the most multiple alarm 
fires. 
 

March 28, 1921 proved to be a very gloomy Easter Sunday when a blaze broke out at the Louisville Food Products 
Company Plant at Shelby Street and Ormsby Avenue. The first 'alarm was sounded at 1:45 P.M., while flames 
enveloped the interior of the plant. Fifteen minutes later, the front wall and floor crumbled. Loss was placed between 
$120,000 and $150,000. 1922 proved to be once again a difficult time for Falls City Hall, located at 1124 West Market 
Street. The building caught on fire for the eighth time in two years on June 12. The fire was in an open locker on the 
third floor, where old paraphernalia was found in flames. It is believed a man disguised as a fire inspector started the 
fire. The next two years (23 & 24) saw a million dollars worth of damage in fires. Louisville's first 4-alarm fire broke 
out at Hughes Lumber Company, located at 14th and Maple Streets. 
 

In October of 1921, the first Louisville Fire Prevention Day was observed, which later would become Fire Prevention 
Week. It is now annually held on or near the anniversary of the Great Chicago Fire of 1871. 
 

On October 3, 1922, the first meeting of Fire Chief's was held in Kentucky. It became an annual event, which even had 
its own "program" printed. In August of the following year, two pumpers were purchased, and in the same month the 
Rescue Company was equipped with lifesaving apparatus, which was taken to every fire. 
 

On December 14, 1923, Louisville had its first black Fire Company. Eight black firemen comprised the staff of Engine 
Company No. 8, under the leadership of Captain Jim F. McArthy, known to his fellow firemen as "Big Jim". A second 
black Company soon followed. It was Engine Company No. 9 located in the 600 block of Lampton, called the Five 
Brother's Home. 
 

The major goal of the Department at this time was to be completely motorized (five horse-drawn engines remained.) 
Finally, under the direction of Louisville's thirteenth Fire Chief, Alex Bache (1924-1927), the dream was realized. On 
March 17, 1925, horse-drawn equipment became obsolete when motorized vehicles replaced the last horse team. A 
team from "Big Jim's" No. 8 Engine Company was the last to see active duty, and when put to pasture, Louisville 
witnessed the passing of an admittedly outdated, but certainly glorious, era. 
 

The first of two major fires in 1926 involved the Louisville Bedding Company. Damage incurred was $250,000, and 
twenty-five firemen were injured. The Drug Sundries Company was the scene of the second fire, on December 29, 
during which two firemen slid from an ice-coated roof to their deaths. Captain William A. "Bud" Fischer, Assistant 
Chief of the Fire Department, died on the scene from a crushed skull. Private Charles A. Webb, from the No. 6 Engine 
Company, died on the way, to the hospital, also from skull injury. The losses to the Drug Sundries Company were 
estimated at $85,000. 
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Courtesy http://www.louisvilleky.gov/LouisvilleFire/LFD_History_Full_Text.htm                            Edited 
 
In 1927, Chief Edward McHugh ruled briefly, followed by J. H. Adams, 1927-1934. It was during Adam's reign that 
Rescue No. 1 was created, a Blood Transfusion Squad. Trained men from the Department manned the high-powered 
automobile truck. It had a Pulmotor and a means for giving first aid to accident victims with the help of a physician 
who was always on call. The Rescue Squad brought much needed aid to many of the fires. 
 
The first few months of 1929 kept the Louisville Firemen busy. January twenty-third saw a fire quickly gut the 
VanCamp Packing Company at 1303 South Shelby. Although quickly brought under control, the fire, caused by bad 
wiring, managed to cause $50,000 worth of damage. On the twenty-eighth of the same month, a two-alarm fire was 
sounded at Churchill Downs. The fire started in a dining hall and advanced to two nearby stables, but firemen quickly 
contained the fire. On February second, the Buffin Decorating Company, located at 120 North 4th Street, was gutted 
by fire. Because of the highly flammable material that comprised the stock and the biting cold, the fire was one of the 
most difficult to fight. An estimated $75,000 worth of material was destroyed and fifteen firemen suffered frozen 
hands. 
 
August 25, 1929 saw special recognition given to Captain "Windy" Newhall, the oldest member, both in age and 
service, of "the Fire Department at that time. Born in 1866, Newhall was only 10 when he began his "career" in the 
Department, as a mascot. In 1876, whenever Charles Newhall wished to accompany firemen who were on their way to 
a fire, he found it necessary to "sneak a ride" in a "dinky," a small, two-wheeled trailer attached to the rear of the fire 
engine that was loaded with firewood. His nickname "Windy" is not a reference to wordy inclination", it was a tribute 
to his speed. In 1890 Major Edward Hughes, Chief of the Fire Department, encountered Newhall running at top speed 
to the Robinson Brothers Hardware Company Fire. "Why are you running like the wind?" Major Hughes asked, as 
Newhall darted by. "Because I can't fly!" he shouted, and continued running. Hughes immediately nicknamed him 
"Windy" and the name stuck. 
 
Captain Newhall joined his father's engine company in 1888 and served in every capacity of the Fire Department 
except Chief and Assistant Chief. By 1929, riding in the "dinky" had given way to Battalion Chief of the Fourth 
District and C. M. Newhall was being escorted to fires in a high-powered roadster. 
 
Fireman John Malick lost his life while combating a blaze at Jacobs Shoe Company on South 4th on the 23rd of April. 
The origin of the blaze was unknown, but damage topped $75,000 and twelve other firefighters were overcome by 
smoke. September brought another tragic accident involving a streetcar and fire engine on the seventeenth, the big 
pumper of the No. 6 Engine company, answering a false alarm, crashed into the end of a streetcar killing Lee M. 
McGee, a young fireman. 
 
The year 1929, a time when a Chief's pay was a mere $4,000, perhaps an indication that dedication and pride were still 
the major motivators in Louisville firemen, was also a time of change. An elaborate electrical switchboard replaced 
the "fire tower". It greatly increased the speed of the Department, as explained by superintendent T. W. Rutherford. 
 
A pull on a lever in an alarm box anywhere in town showed up on a board with a light, at the same time sending a 
signal and printing the number of the box on a slip of paper. The operator on duty could then set the number on an 
automatic transmitter and alert every engine house, hook and ladder company, Salvage Corps, all police stations, the 
Gas and Electric Co., and the Newspaper Office. 
 
This decade (1920-1930) claimed the lives of eleven firefighters; also the Division recorded 245 multiple alarm fires. 
Louisville fire department displaying motorized equipment, at Louisville riverfront.  C. F. Metsker’s father Clarence 
F. Metsker is standing next to second truck from left with sign, “American La France Reserve Truck,:  He’s man 
standing on the right.  1923.  w1990ph2.14JEF11a.jpg 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Before STMFD 
 
Area Covered, Who Was First:  The area the St. Matthews Volunteer Fire Department covered 
was “the St. Matthews Area” and surrounding area that had no protection.  There are 
discrepancies as to when the various “fire departments” started.  Many reports say in them that 
St. Matthews had the first volunteer fire department.  Other 
reports mention other departments.  As far as area lets say they 
covered from the east end of Louisville to the east when they 
were needed.  As to whether or not they were the first 
department, you be the judge. 
 
HISTORY OF JEFFERSONTOWN DEPARTMENT (From 
their Web Site, (11/2009) 
By the early 1900's, Jeffersontown was a thriving country 
village with a variety of businesses and sprawling 
developments.  In the community spirit, a group of concerned 
citizens banded together to provide fire protection for their 
friends and neighbors, giving birth to the Jeffersontown Fire 
Department in 1919.  It has been argued that the history of the 
department goes back further than 1919, however this claim is 
difficult at best to prove.  As you progress through the pages, 
you will take a brief historical journey through our 
department's history.   
 
This interesting stucco and frame structure, completed in late 
1926 on the southeast corner of the town square, housed the 
city government on the second floor and the fire department on 
the first.  Members of the fire department placed the towns fire 
siren on the roof, along with World War I machine guns 
and field pieces. 
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Anchorage Fire Department:  The department started July 14, 1911, as a volunteer department with 
about 8 men.  They had a hand pulled cart with hose and a ladder.  In the early 1920s they got a Model 
T. Ford and in 1924 they bought a Reo pumper and went to a paid department.  (These were paid 
Anchorage policemen and volunteers)   In 1945 they bought a Ford pumper from Middletown. 
 
From Anchorage Web Site (2009), The fire department was established in July 14, 1911 by Chief 
Eugene J. Straus and a group of volunteer firefighters. Over the years a number of changes have been 
made to both the service and the way we fight fires. Dedication and pride however are still the key 
ingredients to the success of the department. 
 
In the late seventies several citizens noted that the established EMS services in the area did not meet the 
needs of Anchorage since response times were sometime more than thirty minutes due to distance, traffic 
and the number of ambulances available at the time. Together the citizens rallied to get a certificate of 
need from the state to create their own ambulance district. Now an Anchorage citizen can get medical 
assistance in four of five minutes. 
 
The fire department covers a small four square mile area in eastern Jefferson County while the EMS 
service normally will respond to anything east of I-64. The department has 23 paid members, each 
working 24 hour shifts (one day on, two days off).  
 
Pewee Valley Fire Department:  It appears there were several attempts to start a fire department in the 
early 1900s but all failed.  They had bucket brigades and even bought some Soda Acid extinguishers 
which were kept at the local blacksmith shop for the use by the townspeople.  Today they feel they were 
organized in 1929. 
 
It wasn’t until January 4, 1916 that the town council decided to buy a fire truck.  The truck being 
ordered, in January of 1917 the fire department was duly formed with Ed Baumister being appointed 
chief along with 16 firefighters.  No formal training was set up at this time. 
 
From Pewee Valley Web Site (2009) In 1929, The Pewee Valley Fire Protection District began 
safeguarding the life and property of its citizens and neighbors by extinguishing fire whenever reported. 
Four firefighters founded the department in a 25' x 30' building adjacent to City Hall in the heart of 
Pewee Valley. After experiencing growing pains from increased census, two additional bays were added 
in 1974 to accommodate the new needs the district demanded. And, as a result of the dedication of its 
many members and the increasingly strong need for emergency service personnel, in 2000 the Pewee 
Valley Fire Protection District relocated to our new facility located at 8607 Foley Avenue behind the 
PNC Bank off of Highway 146.  
 
Courtesy http://www.shivelyky.org/fire.htm                                      
Shively Fire Department/St. Helen’s:  The Shively Fire Department as now known, was established in 
early 1918 as the St. Helen's Volunteer Fire Department and carried that name until the City of 
Shively was incorporated in 1938. 
 
With a recorded 196 members, the St. Helens Volunteer Fire Department was housed at the Home for 
the Aged and Infirmed, located on property that is now the Southland Terrace Shopping Center. The first 
outfitting for the Fire Department was a horse drawn engine capable of pumping 650 gallons per minute 
and carrying 800 feet of hose plus other assorted tools needed for firefighting. 
 
With the incorporation of the City in 1938, the Fire Department was renamed the Shively Fire 
Department. A full time chief and two firemen were hired to provide around the clock watch at the 
station, and were supplemented by approximately 35 citizens as volunteers. 
The Shively Fire Department received their Union Charter on September 06, 1965. As of present day the 
department has three full time crews, which work twenty-four hour shifts. The staffing consists of a full-
time chief, Wendell Vincent, a Fire Inspector, Mark Lafollette, three captains, six sergeants, and nine 
firefighters. 
 The fire and police departments today are housed at 1800 Park Road, which was dedicated in October of 
1999. In the apparatus bay there is a 2001 Seagrave 75' Aerial Ladder truck which carries a 1500 gallon 
per minute pump, a 1995 KME Engine with a 1250 gallon per minute pump and a 1973 Mack Fire 
Engine with a 1000 gallon per minute pump. Other 
vehicles in our fleet are a 2002 Crown Victoria, 2008 
Ford Explorer and a 2007 F150 Ford utility vehicle. We 
also have on hand for parade use the very first fire truck 
Shively purchased, a 1938 Ahrens Fox. 
Home for the aged and Infirm, Shively, Kentucky 1923. 
University of Louisville, digital library, ULPA 
1994.18.0368 
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Courtesy Kyle L. Brown, Booklet—St. Helens:   
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Courtesy Kyle L. Brown, Booklet—St. Helens:   

 
 
 
 

 

Courtesy  https://historiclouisville.weebly.com/east--some-
suburbs.html#PhotoSwipe1536980957473       1900 
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Camp Zachary Taylor—Fire Department 
 

Camp Zachary Taylor existed from 1917 to 1919 and very early 1920 while it was disband.  It had 
6 fire stations during its time.  We do not know if it was allowed to fight fires off of the 
“reservation” or not. 

 
Courtesy http://www.firetrucks-atwar.com/models.html 
 
The following photos were sent in by Jim Mauch and show the military firefighters and equipment 
at Camp Taylor, Fire Truck and Hose Company # 309.  Jim's grandfather, Levi Ferguson was a 
member of the fire department at Camp Taylor and can be seen at the wheel of the 1917 Ford-
Howe pictured directly above.  That photo was taken in Nov 1917. 
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Camp Zachary Taylor—Fire Department 
 

Courtesy http://www.firetrucks-atwar.com/models.html—-Courtesy Ott Mock, Camp Taylor Fire 
District: 

 
 
                          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Courtesy http://camptaylorhistorical.org/history/ 

Twin 1918 Ahrens Fox K-4 750 gpm pumpers 
from Camp Taylor, KY 

Camp Zachary Taylor Fire Department, 1918 

Camp Zachary Taylor Fire Department, 1918 
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Camp Zachary Taylor—Fire Department 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Courtesy http://camptaylorhistorical.org/map/ 
The camp, which consisted of four major sites covered 3,376 acres. The main camp was about five 
miles south of Louisville’s main business district. In 1917, all of the property was rolling farm 
land. Most of it was clear pasture, with standing trees and some lightly wooded area’s. Most of it 
was high ground, which offered good drainage and firm soil. 
 
The camp boundaries were from Beargrass Creek to the east. This area is now occupied by the 
Louisville Zoo and Joe Creason Park. The now defunct Louisville Crush Stone Co. at the east end 
of Taylor Avenue was the location of one of the three original quarries on the site for the mining of 
limestone for use in the making of concrete and asphalt for latrine floors and roadways.  The 
boundary continued northward along Illinois avenue to Poplar Level Road. It continued north on 
Poplar Level to Thruston Lane and traveled west to Pindell. It then traveled south to Hess Lane 
and then west to Preston Street. From there it traveled south to Durrett Lane and back east to 
Poplar Level Road. 
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The Railroad played an important part in the fire department history from supplying many Board members on 
STMFD, to blocking response to areas in the district, to crashes involving people and vehicles to starting many fires 
along the tracks, etc. etc.  Here is just a brief history of the Railroad in St. Matthews 

 
The Voice-Jeffersonian, April 9, 1970:  L & N, an old, valued friend of St. Matthews, by E. R. Thomas L & N Public 
Relations 
 
Construction of the first railroad track through what is now the city of St. Matthews was begun in 1847.  This new 
line, to connect Louisville and Frankfort, was completed four years later, September 8, 1851.  Trains began running 
between the cities via the St. Matthews area, which in those days, as it was for many years to come, was vast, fertile 
farmland. 
 
Within a period of 21 years, the span of time that now constitutes the area of The Voice-Jeffersonian, the Civil war had 
been fought, and the railroad had come of age.  Other lines had been built, and the Louisville & Frankfort had become 
a part of a longer railroad, the Louisville, Cincinnati & Lexington.  Two years later, June 28, 1869, the road was 
opened between Cincinnati and LaGrange.  Known as The Short Line, this section of track enabled through trains to 
run between Louisville and Covington for the first time. 
 
It wasn’t until 1881 that the Louisville & Nashville Railroad entered the transportation picture of St. Matthews.  That 
year it acquired the financially tottering LC & L on the auction block.  The L & N has been a part of the city’s growth 
ever since. 
 
Today, the L & N Railroad is one of the leading rail transportation systems in the nation.  It comprises almost 6,000 
miles of main line with 9,000 miles of track in 13 states.  It is still in the process of enlarging its system, and most re-
cently acquired the 287-mile Evansville—Chicago segment of the Chicago & Eastern Illinois Railroad to give it entry 
into the Windy City.  The L & N now links the Great Lakes to the Gulf of Mexico through single-line service for the 
first time.  Plans are under way to merge the Monon Railroad into the system to provide a Louisville-Chicago connec-
tion within the near future. 
 
Employs 15,000:  During a 24-hour period, L & N trains travel approximately 36,000 miles.  There are 15,000 L & N 
employees and the equipment they operate includes 850 diesel locomotives and 58,000 freight cars. 
 
The L & N is a Kentucky corporation and the home office has always been in Louisville.  The railroad’s assets total 
more than a billion dollars, a figure reached in 1968 for the first time. 
 
In Forbes magazine’s most recent survey of the transportation industry, published in January, 1970, the L & N 
ranked fifth in five year annual earnings per share growth; 10th in five year return on total capital, and 11th in five 
year return on equity. 
 
More than 5,000 of the total freight cars owned by the L & N are tailored for specific uses.  Among them are open top 
hopper cars of 7,000 cubic foot capacity for hauling wood chips; 1-00-ton capacity “Big Blue” covered hoppers with 
full length trough hatches for fast handling of grain and “hi-cube” box-cars measuring 86 feet inside and extending 17 
feet above the rails.  The latter accommodate about 10,000 cubic feet of cargo for hauling automobile parts and stamp-
ings. 
 
In addition to the movement of freight via the conventional methods, the L & N continues to set expansion records 
with its TOFC (trailer- on - flatcar, often called piggyback) traffic and containerization. Loading and unloading has 
been simplified by utilization of giant mobile gantry cranes and other maneuverable, self -propelled devices that lift 
entire trailers on and off flatcars. 
 
New techniques:  One of the most dramatic changes in the movement of freight by rail, a method undreamed of when 
the fledgling Louisville & Frankfort rails were first laid through St. Matthews, has been that of hauling new motor 
vehicles. Moving aboard 85-foot multi-deck rack cars, automobiles are now being rapidly hauled from assembly line 
to distribution points by the trainload. The L & N maintains automobile handling terminals at several points on its 
system. One, at Atlanta, Ga., is the largest such facility operated by a U. S. railroad. 
 
The unit train, long in use by the L & N to transport, coal, is de-
signed especially to transport bulk commodities in volume. The 
railroad maintains facilities that permit quick loading and un-
loading of the unit train, and quantities up to 10,000 tons per 
trainload are not unusual. Fast emptying hopper cars are 
equipped with devices that automatically open the doors, and per-
mits unloading of an entire train of 72 cars or more in less than 15 
minutes. 
 
The L & N also utilizes  numerous innovations in the 
electronics field — television, radio, microwave, to 
name a few - in order to provide the best possible ser-
vice for its customers. It was one of the first railroads 
to make extensive use of computers and now uses these 
electronic brains to expedite traffic and many other 
operational phases of railroading. 
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Courtesy Jim Herron Collection:  Waggener Class of 1960: 
 

L & N St. Matthews Station   by Jim Herron (60) 
 
The L&N St. Matthews Station was at the corner of Chenoweth Lane and Westport Road. It was a small wood building and 
most trains passed right by. However, L&N trains 19 and 20, the “Blue Grass Local” from Louisville to Lexington and trains 
101 and 104, a local to and from Cincinnati, did stop there. Both were discontinued by 1954. 
 
I used to ride the Lexington train once or twice a year just for the fun of it. One of the conductors, Les Sandidge, alternated 
between the Lexington train and the Humming Bird, one of L&N’s finest trains. He was very well liked by folks along the 
line and took candy to hand out to kids at the many stops the train made and often bought eggs and vegetables from farmers 
who showed up to meet the train. It made 23 stops before reaching Lexington, leaving Louisville Union Station at 7:55 AM 
and arriving at Lexington at 10:45 AM. Returning, it left Lexington at 4:55 PM and arrived in Louisville at 7:50 PM. I last 
rode it a few days before it’s last run and I think Dan Schmitz (60) was with me and we boarded it at St. Matthews. 
 
During WWII, the station saw a lot more activity with several more trains stopping each day. The St. Matthews depot agent 
also handled freight shipments that were loaded or unloaded on a track along Westport Road. 
 
In my early years we lived on Staebler Ave and I had a direct view of the station from the back of our house. I used to go over 
there and watch the agent going about his business. He showed me a lot of things about the railroad and put up with me. 
There was old derelict boxcar in the field between the station and our house and we’d occasionally fly kites from there, even 
climbing up on the roof of the boxcar to do it. 
 
The depot was torn down in the mid to late 1960’s. If you go to the tracks there, you can still see parts of the asphalt platform 
where passengers got on or off the trains. Strangely, I never took any pictures of the station and I’ve never seen a good one 
from anyone else, only scenes where it’s in the background. 
 
Jim Herron    
   

 St. Matthews depot  St. Matthews depot, reconstructed in Photoshop  

St. Matthews depot floor plan, built in 
1879, the depot was only 420 square feet.  
The plan is from L&N files.  track plat-

form later replaced by asphalt. 

The Bluegrass Local—1,  
The Bluegrass Local—2, 

Steam freights at  
St. Matthews 
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Courtesy http://hometown.aol.com/chirailfan/louhist.html         Louisville Transit History 
 
NOTE:  Interurban & Trains, were a major part of St. Matthews history also.  They brought lots of 
people to the region.  Though we have no records of “fires” involving the line, you can bet with 
tracks going right up the main corridaor and the additional people it also brought problems for 
STMFD as well as progress. 
 
1901 - Electrification of streetcar lines completed. Louisville & Eastern Railroad opens first interurban rail-
way in area, extending northeast to Crestwood.  
 
1904 - Louisville & Interurban Railroad opens its first interurban line, east to Jeffersontown. Louisville & 
Interurban Railroad was owned by Louisville Traction Co., a holding company which also owned Louis-
ville Railway Co. Line also opened northeast to Prospect, by electrifying a Louisville & Nashville steam 
railroad branch. This would be the only standard gauge interurban line in the Louisville area, with broad 
gauge on all other electric railways in area.  
 
1905 - Louisville & Interurban Railroad opens interurban line southeast to Okolona.  
 
1907 - Louisville & Eastern Railroad completes interurban line beyond Crestwood to La Grange. Louis-
ville & Interurban Railroad opens interurban line southwest to Orell.  
 
1908 - Louisville & Interurban Railroad opens interurban line southeast to Fern Creek.  
 
1910 - Louisville & Eastern Railroad opens interurban line east to Shelbyville.  
 
1911 - Louisville & Interurban Railroad acquires Louisville & Eastern Railroad.  
 
1928 - Kentucky Carriers bus routes transferred to Louisville Railway Co., with Kentucky Carriers subsidi-
ary remaining only as a charter bus operator.  
 
1931 - Interurban line to Okolona abandoned, with Virgil Pierce bus route remaining to provide local ser-
vice.  
 
1932 - Interurban line to Jeffersontown abandoned. Blue Motor Coach Co. formed, providing replacement 
bus service.  
 
1933 - Interurban line to Fern Creek abandoned, replaced with bus service operated by Blue Motor Coach 
Co. Bus service operated into downtown Louisville, not carrying local passengers within city.  
 
1934 - Interurban line to Shelbyville abandoned, with no direct bus replacement. Southeastern Greyhound 
Lines already provided service along this route, on its route between Louisville and Lexington.  
1935 - Interurban line to La Grange abandoned, replacement bus service operated by Chaudoin Bus Lines. 
Interurban line to Prospect abandoned, replaced with Paxton Bus Line route. After World War II, Paxton 
Bus Line would be succeeded by Goebel's Bus Line, and later Prospect Bus Line. Interurban line to Orell 
also abandoned, replaced with Louisville Railway Co. bus route. Virgil Pierce bus line sold to Blue Motor 
Coach Co. 
1948 - Last streetcars replaced with buses. Blue Motor 
Coach Co. introduces service between Louisville and 
Middletown, over objections of Southeastern Greyhound 
Lines, already serving Middletown along its route be-
tween Louisville and Lexington.  
1951 - Trolleybuses discontinued in Louisville. Louis-
ville Railway Co. sold to Louisville Transit Co. Blue 
Motor Coach Co. discontinues Middletown bus route af-
ter a court battle, leaving Southeastern Greyhound Lines 
as the only provider of service along this route.  
1953 - Louisville Transit Co. assumes Middletown ser-
vice from Southeastern Greyhound Lines, after service 
proved to be inadequate and unprofitable for Greyhound. 
The Middletown route was formed by extending its St. 
Matthews Express bus route. 
Map of Interurban routs by Jim Herron, who devel-
oped Streetcars or River City, Louisville’s Streetcars 
& Suburban Electric Railways. 



Before STMFD 
 
Courtesy Jim Herron, Waggener Class (60) & St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass, 1999, by 
Samuel W. Thomas.                             Interurban & Trains 

 

 
 

St. Matthews Interurban tracks L & E Interurban Car 

St. Matthews Interurban tracks 

Green Street Car 

L&N RR once ran a nice local passenger service from Louis-
ville to Lexington via La Grange, Christiansburg, Frankfort 
and a bunch of other towns along the way. Counting flag stops, 
there were 26 stations served in the 98 mile run. The trains 
were number 20 eastbound and number 15 westbound. The 
consist was usually an RPO Baggage combine and two coach-
es but sometimes an extra car or two was added. Number 20 
left Louisville at 7:35 AM and arrived at Lexington at 11:05 
AM. Returning on train 15, it departed Lexington at 4:45 PM 
and arrived at Louisville at 8:30 PM (in the March, 1946 time-
table). Power was usually at Pacific but toward the end of 
steam even an occasional L1 class 4-8-2 pulled the train.  
 
This painting shows train 20 arriving at St. Matthews, a Louis-
ville suburb just 9 miles out from Louisville Union Station. 
This was a flag stop where the train arrived at 7:59 AM. My 
parents lived in a house across an open field to the right of this 
scene and we had an open view of trains passing the little sta-
tion there. It was enough to make me a lifetime railfan. The 
track on the left was a team track used by local businesses. The 
tower was used to control crossing gates in the local area. The 
engine is Pacific 232, a K4 class built at L&N's South Louis-
ville Shops around 1914-1918 and retired in December, 1950. 
The painting was inspired by a photo by the late Jack Fravert.  
Jim Herron 



Before STMFD 
 

Courtesy St. Matthews makes its bow, 1938, by James Speed & St. Matthews The Crossroads of 
Beargrass, 1999, Samuel W. Thomas.               

St. Mathews Produce Exchange & Marshall Planing Mill  
 

 
  

Courtesy Ekstrom Library, University of Lou-
isville, CSO 217310, St. Matthews Produce, 
updated. 

Courtesy Ekstrom Library, University of Louis-
ville, CSO 217313, St. Matthews Produce or Plan-
ing Mill, un-dated. 

Courtesy St. Matthews The Crossroads of Bear-
grass, 1999, Samuel W. Thomas, Potato harvest-
ing, July 1940, by Marion Post Wolcott, USF34-
55226-D Farm Security Administration, Library 
of Congress              

Courtesy St. Matthews The Crossroads of 
Beargrass, 1999, Samuel W. Thomas, 100-lb 
sacks of Kentucky Winner Potatoes from St. 
Matthews being unloaded at Louisville Hay-
market in 1943.  Thomas, Louisville Since 
The Twenties, 135. 



Before STMFD 
 
Courtesy St. Matthews makes its bow, 1938, by James Speed & St. Matthews The Crossroads of 
Beargrass, 1999, Samuel W. Thomas.               

St. Mathews Produce Exchange & Marshall Planing Mill  
 

The Produce and Planing Mill brought lots of business to the St. Matthews area as well helped in 
the expansion of the area. 

 
  



Before STMFD 
 
May 14, 1907, The Courier-Journal  March 2, 1916, The Courier-Journal 



1919 
 

June 11, 1919, Articles Of Incorporation Of The St. Matthews Voluntary Fire Association 

 

Page 1, start 

Last Page, Finish 
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June 11, 1919, Articles Of Incorporation Of The St. Matthews Voluntary Fire Association 
 



June 11, 1919 
Articles of Incorporation  Of the 

St. Matthews Voluntary Fire Association 
 

Whereas the citizens and residents in, and around, St. Matthews, Jefferson County Kentucky, 
desire to provide more adequate facilities for the protection of their property in the event of fire; 
 
Now the undersigned do associate themselves together to form a corporation for such purpose. 
 
I.  The name of the corporation shall be St. Matthews Voluntary Fire Association. 
 
II.  The principal office and place of business of said corporation shall be St. Matthews, 
Jefferson County, Kentucky. 
 
III.  The purpose for which this corporation is formed is to provide way and means to protect 
the homes and property of the citizens and residents in and around St. Matthews in the event of 
fire and to establish and maintain an organization for such purpose.   
 
IV.  Said corporation shall have no capital stock, and the funds necessary for the purchase and 
maintenance of the equipment and appliances for fire protection, and the expense for the 
carrying out of the purpose of the corporation, shall be by voluntary subscription:  No private 
pecuniary profit shall be derived from said corporation, and no charge shall be made for any 
services rendered by it. 
 
V.  The names, and places of residence of each of the incorporators are; 
  John Bohlsen   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  Henry Bauer   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  G. W. Fiske   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  Wm. Rueff   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  F. X. Schuler   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  A. C. Green   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  Wm. Wills   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  Alex Staebler   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  A. W. Bauer   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  A. J. Eline   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  P. G. Rueff   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  Robert H. Nanz  St. Matthews, Ky. 
  C. T. Dick   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  J. F. Roopsby   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  E. E. Brooks   St. Matthews, Ky. 
VI.  This corporation shall commence business upon the date of the filing of these articles and 
shall continue for Twenty (20) years thereafter. 
 
VII.  The affairs of the corporation shall be conducted by a Board of Seven (7) Directors to be 
selected upon its organization, and then annually thereafter on the First Wednesday in July of 
each calendar year.  Said Board of Directors shall elect from their number a President, Vice 
President, secretary and Treasurer whose duties shall be prescribed by the By Laws of the 
Association.   
 
VIII.  The highest amount of indebtedness, or liability, which said corporation shall at any time 
incur is Two Thousand ($2000.00) Dollars. 
 
IX.  The private property of the incorporators and subscribers shall not be subject to the 
payment of the debts or liabilities of the corporation. 
 
In Testimony of all which witness our signatures this June 11, 1919. 
 
John Bohlsen, Henry Bauer, G. W. Fiske, Wm. Rueff, F. X. Schuler, A. C. Green, Wm. Will, 
Alex Staebler, A. W. Bauer, P. G. Rueff, A. J. Eline, Robert H. Nanz, G. T. Dick, L. F. Roopsby, 
E. E. Crooks. 
 
State of Kentucky, County of Jefferson 
I., W. P. Shouse, a Notary Public in and for Jefferson County State of Kentucky of certify that 
the foregoing Articles of Incorporation of St. Matthews Voluntary Fire Association were this day 
produced to me in my County by John Bohlsen, Henry Bauer, G. W. Fiske, Wm. Rueff, F. X. 
Schuler, A. C. Green, Wm. Will, Alex Staebler, A. W. Bauer, P. G. Rueff, A. J. Eline, Robert H. 
Nanz, G. T. Dick, L. F. Roopsby, E. E. Crook the incorporators whereof and that they did each 
sign the  



 1919 
 

foregoing articles of incorporation in my presence and acknowledged same to be their lot and 
deed, and consented that same be recorded. 
 
In testimony of which witness my hand and material seal this June 11, 1919.  My commission 
expires April 12, 1923. 
 
Recorded June 12, 1919. 
 

 
Notes by Al Ring, November 2009, on the Articles of Incorporation.  After checking with other 
historians we all agree that the Department attorney or representative brought a hand or type 
written copy of these Articles to the Recorders Office and they were then typed into the Register 
by a staff member.  If you look close at the typed and only records we have some names are 
different in different places.  I have done my best to discover which name might be correct based 
on censuses, discussions with old timers, etc. to try and determine which name is correct.  I agree 
with the following names: 
 
  John Bohlsen   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  Henry Bauer   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  G. W. Fiske   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  Wm. Rueff   St. Matthews, Ky. 
  F. X. Schuler   St. Matthews, Ky. 

A. C. Green   St. Matthews, Ky. 
Alex Staebler   St. Matthews, Ky. 
A. W. Bauer   St. Matthews, Ky. 
A. J. Eline   St. Matthews, Ky. 
P. G. Rueff   St. Matthews, Ky. 
Robert H. Nanz  St. Matthews, Ky. 
C. T. Dick   St. Matthews, Ky. 
 

I have questions on the below names: 
 

Wm. Wills   St. Matthews, Ky. 
J. F. Roopsby   St. Matthews, Ky. 
E. E. Brock   St. Matthews, Ky. 
 

If you read the typed document on pages 5 & 6 the names are listed in 3 places.   
 
On Wm. Wills which is the name on in the first list it is spelled Will on the next two lists.  I believe 

Wills is correct based on my search of records. 
 
On Roopsby which is the name on in the first list it is J. F. the second time it is L. F.  And the third 

time it is L. F.  As of November 2009 I can find nothing on the name Roopsby at all.  
 
On E. E. Crock which is the name on the first list it is Crock on the second list it is E. E. Brooks 

and the third time it is Crook.  I believe the correct name is Brooks which is the only person 
we can find ever listed at that time. 

 
Based on the information found, I will use the following names: 
  Wm. Wills 
  J. F. or L. F. Roopsby    
  E. E. Brooks 
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Newspaper Article, June 11, 1919: St. Matthews Citizens Form Fire Brigade 

June 16, 1919,The Courier-Journal 

For the purpose of providing better protection of houses in and around St. Matthews, residents of 
that town formed a fire brigade.  The organization filed Articles of Incorporation yesterday under 
the name St. Matthews Voluntary Fire Association.   

It has no capital stock and is authorized to incur liabilities not to exceed $2,000.00 and to accept 
voluntary subscriptions for purchase of apparatus and maintenance of same. 
Those words and the actions of these 15 men, started what was to become one of the most 
innovative and dedicated fire service organizations in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.  

 
 
 



1919 
Original Incorporators 

 
A. W. Bauer: 
Courtesy, St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass, by Samuel W. Thomas, 1999:    Excerpts 
 
Early in 1887, brothers Louis H. and John E. Bauer had purchased the two-story, brick grocery 
and tavern at the crossroads that Henry Holzemer had erected and operated.  They were joined 
by their younger brother Henry.  Their father John Bauer, had purchased a small triangle of land 
on the Brownsboro Road from Richard S. Veech in 1868.  He had been a blacksmith for Ainsli, 
Cochran & Co., before setting up his own shop near his residence, where he died in 1880. Bauer’s 
other sons, Charles C. and Albert W. Bauer, expanded the business into wagon manufacturing.  
In 1909 his brother Charles died and Albert took over and with his sons modernized the shop.  
From such meager beginning came Bauer’s since 1870 restaurant.  As the art of wagon making 
disappeared, A filling station emerged in its place run by Edward L. Swartz, who had worked for 
the Bauer’s.  
 
The grocery part of Bauer Bros. did not give up the ghost.  Henry, Albert, Irvin and Martin Bau-
er erected a fine, brick grocery east of the new bank, where the feed store had been.  They han-
dled “fancy groceries, vegetables, fruits and meats while soft drinks are carried at all seasons.”  
The second floor housed a public hall, where monthly dances of the Penrose Club, were held.  
Bauer Bros. grocery was sold by Louis Bauer’s son, Irvin, in 1943.   
 
A. W. Bauer:  Born in 1866.  Mr. Bauer operated the restaurant that his father opened in 1870.  
He retired in 1949.  He was a director of the Southern Federal Saving 
and Building Association and voted vice president of Farmers & De-
positors Bank. He was one of the original signers of the original Arti-
cles of Incorporation of the department.  He died January 23, 1953. 

 
 

View of A. W. Bauer & Sons’ new establishment as it appeared 
on 1917 calendar.  It was replaced by a modern Standard Oil 
Company station, which has also been raised.  Site is now a park-
ing lot for Azalea Restaurant.  Courtesy Bauer’s Since 1870 col-
lection. 
 

January 30, 1953, The Jefferso-
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Original Incorporators 
 
Henry Bauer:  Born in St. Matthews to a well known blacksmith, grocer and 
restaurant family.  He and his brothers John and Louis operated a carriage 
business for many years.  In the early 1920s they opened Bauer Brothers grocery 
and restaurant. In the 1930 census it showed him on Shelbyville Road, head of 
household, born about 1867 
wife's name Mary, and a Jack 
and Mary E. Bauer lived with 
them.  He was one of the 
original signers of the Articles 
of Incorporations of the 
department. He served as a 

firefighter and board member from 1919 to 
1930.   
 
 
Courtesy, St. Matthews The Crossroads of 
Beargrass, by Samuel W. Thomas, 1999:    
Excerpts 
 
Early in 1887, brothers Louis H. and John E. 
Bauer had purchased the two-story, brick 
grocery and tavern at the crossroads that 
Henry Holzheimer had erected and operated.  
They were joined by their younger brother 
Henry.  Their father John Bauer, had 
purchased a small triangle of land on the 
Brownsboro Road from Richard S. Veech in 
1868.  He had been a blacksmith for Ainsli, 
Cochran & Co., before setting up his own 
shop near his residence, where he died in 
1880. Bauer’s other sons, Charles C. and 
Albert W. Bauer, expanded the business into 
wagon manufacturing.  In 1909 his Charles 
died and Albert took over and with his sons 
modernized the shop.  From such meager 
beginning came Bauer’s since 1870 
restaurant.  As the art of wagon making 
disappeared, A filling station emerged in its 
place run by Edward L. Swartz, who had 
worked for the Bauer’s.  
 
The grocery part of Bauer Bros. did not give up the ghost.  Henry, Albert, Irvin and Martin Bauer 
erected a fine, brick grocery east of the new bank, where the feed store had been.  They handled 
“fancy groceries, vegetables, fruits and meats while soft drinks are carried at all seasons.”  The 
second floor housed a public hall, where monthly 
dances of the Penrose Club, were held.  Bauer 
Bros. grocery was sold by Louis Bauer’s son, Irvin, 
in 1943.   
 

 
 
 
 
John Bohlsen:   He was one of 
the original signers of the 
Articles of Incorporation.  He 
was instrumental in helping to 
get the department started. 



1919 
 

Original Incorporators 
 
G. W. Fiske:  Was born in Louisville in December 11,  1866.  In 1888 he and some 
others organized Giger, Fiske & Corp, to build elevators, later the name was changed 
to Louisville Drying Machinery Company.  Mr. Fisk stayed until retiring and sold out 
in  1923.  The 1920 census shows his family living on Westport Road, age 53, married 
to Elizabeth S. age 50 and they had 3 children, Elizabeth, Margaret, George W. He 
was one of the original signers of the Articles of Incorporations and died in September 
17, 1934, while retired living on Westport Road.     

 
A. C. Green:  Was born in Eastern Kentucky July 7, 1875.  He moved to St. Matthews   
before the turn of the century and work for the L. & N. Railroad.  In 1907 he became 
superintendent of the Nunner Florist.  After moving out of town for eight years he 
returned and worked for the County Health Department.  He was one of the original 
corporation signers and was acting police chief for a while in St. Matthews  He died 
September 23, 1937.  
 
Robert H. Nanz: 

Robert H. Nanz, 72, Schenley Official, Civic Leader, Dies 
Robert H. Nanz, 72, died at 4 a.m. Saturday in Good Samaritan hospital at Cincinnati, 
where he had been a patient for the past two weeks. 
 
Mr. Nanz retired four years ago as vice president and manager of the Schenley plant 
here, and retained his office in an advisory capacity until his fatal illness. 

 
Funeral Tuesday 2 p.m.:  Funeral services will be held at 2 p.m., Tuesday at the residence, with 
burial in Greendale cemetery.  Masonic rites were to be held Monday evening at the residence.  
The final rites were in charge of Fitch Brothers funeral home, and will be conducted by the Rev. 
Jack Barrell, Presbyterian pastor here and a friend of the late Mr. Nanz, who was an official of the 
Beecher Presbyterian church. 
 
Mr. Nanz was born October 5, 1885 at Louisville, KY, to Henry and Mary Nanz.  (rest of this 
paragraph missing). 
 
During his early years he was employed in the distilling business with the Kentucky Distillery at 
Louisville, and was married to the former Miss Virginia O’Brien of Louisville, who survives him. 
 
In 1920 he went to New Orleans as an official of the K. D. & W. distillery and served there 
throughout the prohibition era.  During this period he also supervised interests in Haiti and Cuba 
but never moved there.  (We believe he was back and forth to St. Matthews helping with the 
department.)   
 
Mr. Nanz was prominent in civic affairs in New Orleans and was at one time a Republican 
candidate for municipal officer there. 
 
In 1932 he returned to Louisville, (rest of paragraph missing).  He was involved with Schenley at 
this time. 
 
Mr. Nanz, who was known to many friends as “colonel”, because of the honorary tital conferred 
upon him several yeas ago by the Governor of Kentucky, was active in civic affairs and projects 
and had headed many community functions and campaigns.  He was a director of the Peoples 
National Bank, Perpetual Building Association, a member of the Presbyterian Church, Elks 
Lodge, Masonic Lodge, Scottish Rite, Shrine, and Dearborn Country Club.  As a Chamber of 
Commerce director and civic leader, he was noted for having led the move for an Ohio river 
bridge here. 
 
Surviving is the widow, Virginia at the family home, 421 Ridge Avenue; a daughter, Mrs. Oran K. 
Henderson, Augsburg, Germany where her husband is a parachute officer; two sons, Robert Jr., 
Houston, Texas, oil engineer; Henry, Lawrenceburg, six grandchildren, and a brother Henry, 
Louisville. 
 
Present at the home here for the funeral services are the brother Henry, the two sons and a 
daughter, who flew from her husband’s station in Germany with her small daughter.  Ann Geiger 
Henderson. 
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Original Incorporators 
J. F. Roopsby or L. F.:  No information available at this time. 
 
Eugene E. Brooks:  From using Ancestry.com, and the 1920 census, and the World War I 
Registration Card and conversations with Ralph Kempf we have put together the following 
information.  Eugene was born September 11, 1889, in Hardin County Kentucky.   He was the son 
of Robert and Mary Brooks, in 1920 he was 30 years old lived in the 12th Ward of Louisville, and 
appears to have a sister Jannetta who was born May 29, 1911 and died in 1974 in Hardin, 
Kentucky.  In June of 1917 he was working as a furniture packer at 
Fireproof Storage Company in Louisville, Kentucky and he was single.  
We believe he became the “Brooks Station” Post Harold newspaper 
manager in the St. Matthews area which is what brought him to St. 
Matthews.  There may have been an F. T. Brooks, who was this person, 
and not Eugene Brooks. 
 

 
G. T. Dick:  Was born in Oldham County in 1875.  In 1906 
he moved to St. Matthew to help organize the St. Matthews 
National Bank.  During this time he was also maintaining 
his old business the Dick Insurance Agency. He was also 
Chairman of the Board of the Beargrass Christian Church.  
He was an original signer of the Articles of Incorporation 
of the department and served as Treasurer of the Board 
from 1919 to 1936.  He died September 15, 1949, at age 74. 

 
 
 
 

Courtesy, The Jeffersonian,  
September 23, 1949: 
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Original Incorporators 
 
A. J. Eline:  Mr. Eline was born in Seneca Park in 1884.  He was one of earliest 
business men in St. Matthews.  He started the Overland Agency and was a 
Ford dealer.  He worked as a mechanic in his own shop.  He became a Buick 
dealer in 1928, then opened a Chevrolet dealership and ran that until he sold it 
1955.  He also owned the Eline Realty Company and developed many of the 
subdivisions in the area.  He was one of the original signers of the Corporation.  
He also loaned and/or gave the department money in its early years.  He died 
March 23, 1967.     He was STMFD’s first President.  
 
 

 



1919 
 

Original Incorporators 
 
 
P. G. Rueff:  Phil was a well known businessman in the St. Matthews area.  He was 
a foreman while working  for American Elevator,  on Lexington Road, he was an 
electrical engineer, and worked on the McAlpine dam and locks, was married and 
had 1 daughter.  
 
 
 
 
William Rueff:  William was born in Louisville in March 19, 1874, he was in the sign 
painting business all his life.  He served on the Board from 1919 to 1930 and was one 
of the original signers of the Articles of Incorporation. He was married, and their 
children were Bill Jr., Norman, JC and Bud Rueff.  He also had four brothers and 
he painted wagon wheels first then got into the sign business.  He died June 28, 1950. 
 
 
 

 
F. X. Schuler:  Born in Louisville August 20, 1884.  He went to 
Holy Trinity Church and St. Xavier High school and married in 
1905.  The had one son and one daughter, in July 6, 1939 Mrs. 
Schuler died.  He remarried December 14, 1944 and was very 
active until his death April 18, 1950.  He was involved in many 
businesses in the area including Silo Tank Company becoming vice 
president. He then opened Schuler Motors, Schuler-Bauer 
Company and others.  He was also an original signer of the Articles 
of Incorporation.  He served as the first chief of the department 
serving from 1919 until 1920.  He remained on the department 

until 1930.  He died in Jefferson County April 18, 1950. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alex Staebler:  Original Incorporator. June 31, 1868 to November 11, 1920.  In 1905 he became 
one of the principles in the Bank of St. Matthews, holding 20 shares also with G. T. Dick, Oscar 
Fenley, W. N. Arterburn, John M Monohan, and E. S. Monohan, Jr., Louis Bauer had only 8 
shares. and was a business man from the area.  We know he was married to Ida Staebler.  He died 
of a cerebral hemorrhage, November 11, 1920.  In the 1920 census he is referred to as a general 
contractor and lived on Chenoweth Lane with a son named Charles.  
 
William Wills:  William Will was born in Scotland about 1869 and he immigrated to the United 
States in 1900.  In the 1920 Census he is listed as 51 years old, head of household, married to 
Elizabeth age 47, with three children, Peter, Ada and Elizabeth.  They lived on Breckenridge 
Lane.  He was one of the original incorporators of the STMFD Articles of Incorporation and 
owned the Burlap & Bag company at River Road and Third Street.   

Courtesy St. Matthews The Crossroads of 
Beargrass, 1999, by Samuel W. Thomas. 



1919 
 
Courtesy, Kentucky Firefighters Association: 
 



 1919 
 
On paper St. Matthews now had a fire department, but—with no experience, and because they were one 
of the first volunteer fire departments in the state, they had no one from which to learn.  They also had 
no money or much of anything else. 

 

There was no training of any real nature then, and really not until the early 1940s. 

 

First Fire Chief:  F. Xavier Schuler 1919 – 1920            First Captain:  Andrew Neichter 

 

 
Board Of Directors 

 
A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
Gilbert T. Dick 
A. J. Eline, first President. 
Robert H. Nanz 
Phil G. Rueff 
William J. Rueff 

Officers 
Chief Francis Xavier Schuler 
Captain Andrew W. Neichter 
 
 

Firefighters 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
J. J. Butler 
R. S. Frank 
Richard C. Herdt 
Carl A. Hulswede, Sr. 
W. “Will” Lausman 
 
In the 1920’s and 30’s many citizens helped the volunteers but 
were not on the “roster.” 
 
 

1919 



1919 
 
Alarm System:  The first alarm system was 
operated by an operator of the St. Matthews 
Telephone Exchange.  Mrs. Ruth Harrison 
was the main operator and the exchange was 
located on the second floor of Bauer General 
store.  The department had no siren to notify 
the firefighters, and it is not known how she 
notified them, but we suspect she called them 
by phone.  The 1920 census shows a Ruth 
Harrison, age 25, married to William L. 
Harrison.  She was born August 12, 1894 died 
January 1977. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From there the Exchange moved to a building owned by 
Mr. Fishers and later Mr. Justin Wilkens (STMFD 
firefighter) called Chicks Place near by the Schuler Motor 
Building, which later became the Consolidated Sales Co. 
building and is now the White Castle. (Note, as of 2002). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

From the Wilken’s building the “Alarm System” moved to the Buschemeyer/Ogden Drug Store 
where it stayed for many years. 
 
After that the “Alarm System moved to the Belmont Cab Company building which is the Sinclair 
Station in this picture and the business owned by Talbott Hopkins.  He later sold the business to 
Orion Bond, who eventually started Bonds 2 Way Radio—Central Alarm and we remained on 
that system until we joined County Alarm. 

Courtesy St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass, 1999, by 
Samuel W. Thom-
as. 

Courtesy St. Matthews The Crossroads of 
Beargrass, 1999, by Samuel W. Thomas. 

University of Louisville, ULPA 1994,18.0379,  
Automobile Service Station, 2/12/1936 
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The first “Fire Apparatus: An old hand pulled hose cart. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE from Al Ring (November 2009):  First lets be sure everyone understands that the above 
picture from the 1969, 50th Year Brochure of STMFD shows this as the first apparatus.  It is a 
facsimile of what the original hose cart might have looked like.  To our knowledge know one has a 
picture of the original one. 

 

Report after research from Dick Weller (Lyndon), John Stich (Lyndon), Jack Monohan (STMFD), 
and myself (STMFD) November 2009:  Dick Weller sometime around the early 1970’s located two 
hand pulled hose carts in a storage facility at Ormsby Village.  At the time he was told the story 
that in the early 1920’s the county acquired two hose carts, one from Anchorage and one from St. 
Matthews and gave them to Ormsby Village for use on the farm for irrigation.  After their use 
they were stored away and forgotten.  John Stich wound up with one of them and rebuilt that unit 
including making a new tool box, and doing extensive work on the draw bar and the pull handle.  
Lyndon Fire Department personal later painted the unit.  There is every reason to believe that the 
hand cart at Lyndon is either Anchorage’s or the STMFD original hose cart.  It is doubtful that we 
will ever know for sure.  We are not sure where the other hose cart is at this time.  
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Courtesy Major David Joels, Lyndon Fire and Rescue (December 2009)  Last one Al Ring, 
(Summer 2009): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 1919 
 

First Fire House and temporary locations for the fire apparatus 

 
A. J. Eline let the department keep the hose 
cart in his garage at 3908 – 3914 Frankfort 

Avenue, thus becoming the ---First fire house:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Three of the fire house pictures are from St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass, Courte-
sy of Sidney W. Eline, Jr. by Howard V. Withers. 



1919 
 

First Fire House and temporary locations for the fire apparatus 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Courtesy, A Walk With Ray, Memories of Raymond Joseph Kempf, former STMFD helper: 
 
 
 
Name:  The name on the Articles of Incorporation clearly show the departments name as St. 
Matthews Voluntary Fire Association.  In reality everyone called it the St. Matthews Volunteer 
Fire Association or Department and in 1939 when the Articles of Incorporation were re-written, 
the name was changed to St. Matthews Volunteer Fire Association. 
 
St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass, by Samuel W. Thomas, 1999:  Fifteen prominent St. 
Matthews men had organized “a fire brigade” in 1919 under the name, St. Matthews Voluntary 
Fire Association.  With no capital stock, but authorization to incur liabilities up to $2,000 the 
group acquired the chemical wagon.  Its first real use came in March 1920, when calls came into 
Eline’s Garage and the chemical wagon was on the scene of three fires reportedly in less than eight 
minutes.  The small garage behind the corner drugstore on Breckenridge Lane became quite 
crowded when a brand new Seagrave pumper was added in 1931.  Betsy, as the engine continues to 
be called, has pumped water from almost every conceivable source.  Milk commandeered from a 
dairy truck was even used to extinguish one fire in Woodlawn.  Fifty years after its founding, the 
department moved into it fourth quarters. 
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Location of STMFD Fire Houses & Temporary Quarters 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Fire Houses 

1.  1919-1924 Eline’s Garage, 3914 Frankfort Avenue 
2.  1925-1942, 109 Breckinridge Lane 
3.  1942-1952, 115 Breckinridge Lane 
4.  1952-1969, 117 St. Matthews Avenue 
5.  1969—Present (2009), 4114 Lyndon Way—- 240 Sears Avenue 
6.  1989—Present (2009), 4400 Brownsboro Road  
 
Temporary Quarters 
1.  Ford Model T, A. L. Hansen’s paint shop at 124 St. Matthews Avenue 
2.  Ford Model T, rear Gresharber’s Saloon   and  several other places 
3.  Ford/Seagrave was installed new 1941 at the Ford Agency on the East side behind  double 
doors.  
4.  White Salvage Wagon was stored on the Monohan Farm about two years abound 1941 and 42. 
5.  Betsy was stored (so we could get to it) at the Pendergrass Chevrolet building by Landor 
Bowling Alley although it was not called Pendergrass at the time. 1950, 1951 part 1952.    
6. Betsy, S-2, loaned to Lyndon Fire Department,  in 1952  after we moved in to our new house. 
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1919/1920 
 

Bowman field was said to have started in 1919.  It was officially incorporated May 12, 1920.  Over 
the years there have been a few plane crashes in the STMFD area involving planes coming or 
going to Bowman field.  Bowman Field also had at one time a “fire department” before the City 
of Louisville took over.  They participated in many parades in the St. Matthews area and we 
know the responded to the St. Matthews Motor Company fire in 1943 (based on newspaper 
article).  Louisville Fire Department history shows that they reactivated Engine 10 in 1948 to 
provide fire protection to Bowman Field, no record of FD at the airport prior to that.  In 1957 
Engine 10 was disbanded again and replaced by newly formed Quad Co. #10 and a new fire house 
was built. 
Courtesy Louisville Regional Airport Authority: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1919/1920 
 

Possibly the first official photo at the brand new Bowman Field. Abram H. Bowman is on the right 
and Robert Gast is to the left. The two incorporated during May 1920 so I would think the photo 
was taken soon after. Their first airplane, in the view, is a Canadian built Curtiss JN Jenny. At the 
time Bowman Field was out in the county and their first mailing address was Jeffersontown. A 
crude wooden hangar went up within the next year or so and first real hangar went up in late 1922 
or early 1923 when two metal hangars from Godman Field, Camp Knox were moved to BF. They 
were the only hangars until the late 1920s. Three woodend cottages were also moved from CK at 
the same time as the hangars and two survive making them the oldest buildings on the field. The 
photo comes from the U of L photo archives.  Courtesy Charlie Arrington. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Courtesy http://www.nps.gov/nr//travel/aviation/bow.htm 
 

 

 

 

Curtiss Flying Service Hangar and Administra-
tion Building c. 1930 
Photo from National Register collection, courte-
sy of Kentucky Heritage Council 

Dedication of the Army Air Corps Hangar in 
1932. Photos from National Register collection, 
historic image courtesy of Kentucky Heritage 
Council 



1920 
 
In 1920 Andrew W. Neichter became Fire Chief and served as Chief 
until 1937.  At that time there were no other officers 
 
Andrew was born in St. Matthews January 27, 1898.  He went to grade 
school here and two years of high school at Holy Trinity.  He was a 
mechanic for A. J. Eline for 35 years before retiring to San Diego 
California.  He was married and had two sons.  He joined the 
department in 1919 and was the departments first Captain, and became 
the Chief of the department in 1920 serving in that capacity until 
March 9, 1939.  He was also a member of the Board of Directors from 
1930 to 1934.  He returned to Jeffersontown, Kentucky and died at the 
age of 94, August 26, 1992.  
 
St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass, by Samuel W. Thomas, 1999:  
Andrew Neichter, who in 1921 became St. Matthew’s second Fire 

Chief, was married to Theresa Hauntz.  He died in 1946 at the age of 70; She died in 1956 at age 
81.  Judy Ochsner Edwards collection, Beargrass-St. Matthews Historical Society.  (Note death 
information is wrong.) 
 

From: ST. MATTHEWS Don C. Leahy, English 101-B, Miss Lyons, May 1938 
 
This association operated for two years on a helter-skelter, hit or miss basis.  The first one to the 
garage, or the first one to know where the fire was, drove the fire truck.  It was one of those old 
time Ford trucks capable, I think, of doing all of twenty miles an hour.  Assuming that our 
apparatus got to the fire — and it did even though some one had to pull it — there was quite some 
confusion as to what everyone should do.  So in 1921, Andrew Neichter, a mechanic working in 
Eline’s Garage, which is right next to the garage that houses the fire truck, was appointed Fire 
Chief. 
 
Let me say in passing, that here is really a firefighter.  Neichter does not get paid for his services.  
He is no public hero — being disliked by more people in St. Matthews than liked.  But he is a 
firefighter.  In the densest of smoke, in the thickest of fires, he fights it and how!  He acts as though 
crazy around a fire.  He has been termed fool-hardy and declared not to have much sense.  In case 
of a fire, or better to say when fighting a fire, he rushes in where angels — nay even devils, would 
fear to tread.  He searches through the smoke for the source of the fire armed only with his hose, 
and somehow, miraculously, he finds it, and if it can be put right out, he puts it out.  I have seen 
this individual dash into a smoking inferno with never a though of safety — only the thought of 
getting to the fire and extinguishing it.  He has been overcome by smoke, passed out, been taken to 
the hospital, seriously ill 
from lung burn from 
swallowing too much smoke 
or fire.  But he comes back.  
And, Ladies and Gentlemen, 
remember he gets no pay for 
his job, he is still a mechanic 
at Eline’s Garage.  This is 
his only means of 
sustenance.  Whether he 
fights fires with such gusto 
from a personal satisfaction 
or from some other reason, 
whether from the feeling of 
prestige or what?  One will 
never know.  He has been 
declared insane for his 
throwing-caution-to-the 
wind-attitude.   But insane 
or condemned, he fights 
fires and gets results.  That’s 
why Andy Neichter is still 
alive and still chief of the St. 
Matthews Volunteer Fire 
Association. 
 



1920 
 

Courtesy St. Matthews Crossroads of Beargrass, 1999, by Samuel W. Thomas, Mary Elizabeth 
Ratterman Ruckriegel.    1920—St. Matthews Post Office on the east side of Chenoweth Lane 
between Westport Road and the railroad tracks.  !2 ft. by 16 ft. frame structure. 

 

 
 

January 22 & 23, 1920, The Courier Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1920 
 

July 25, 1920, The Courier Journal   Edited 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November 12, 1920, Henry County Local 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1920 
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1921 
 

December 12, 1921, Ekstrom Library of University of Louisville, Caufield & Shook collection, 
CSO 39883, Frankfort Avenue at Cannon s Lane, S. E. corner. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Board Of Directors 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
Gilbert T. Dick 
A. J. Eline 
Robert H. Nanz 
Phil G. Rueff 
William J. Rueff 
 

Officers 
Chief Andrew W. Neichter 
 
 
 

Firefighters 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
J. J. Butler 
R. S. Frank 
Richard C. Herdt 
Carl A. Hulswede, Sr. 
W. “Will” Lausman 
Francis Xavier Schuler 
 
In the 1920’s and 30’s many citizens helped the volunteers but 
were not on the “roster.” 

1920 



1921 
January 18, 1921, The Courier-Journal:   January 21, 1921, The Courier-Journal 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



1921 
                                                             May 16, 1921, The Courier-Journal 
 

April 5, 1921, The Courier-Journal: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May 22, 1921, The Courier-Journal 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



1921 
July 11, 1921, The Courier-Journal  October 26, 1921, The Paducah Sun-Democrat 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1921 
December 14, 1921, Lexington Herald-Leader  The Paducah Sun-Democrat 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1921 
December 15, 1921, The Courier-Journal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



1921 
December 14, 1921, Messenger-Inquirer  Edited 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1921 
 
Second “Fire Apparatus:”  A. J. Eline sold the department a 1920 Model T. Ford Truck, which 
became the departments first motorized fire truck for $900.  The men mounted three, 35 gallon 
tanks and a ladder on it, and it became a chemical wagon.  By chemical wagon we mean soda acid 
tanks, which were rotated to create pressure to fight a fire with.  Like the old soda acid fire 
extinguishers only much bigger and mounted.  NOTE:  The picture from our 1969 50th Brochure 
is not the real apparatus.  This picture has a pump and is a facsimile of the real truck. 
 
St. Matthews achieved a 9th class insurance classification mainly due to the new 1920 Model T 
Ford Truck the Department purchased.   
 
1920 Model-T Ford Chemical Wagon – Served from 1921 to 1931, was then sold to Lake 
Dreamland. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
November 14, 1921:  A large fire in Jeffersontown, Kentucky, burned almost ½ the town due to all 
wood frame buildings.  They had one chemical unit, all communications were disrupted and they 
had to drive out of town to get help.  Louisville Fire Department sent an engine and a truck and St. 
Matthews sent manpower.   
 
Courtesy Jeffersontown Fire District Web Site, (2009) 

The Great Fire of 1921 —  FIRE TAKES HEAVY TOLL IN TOWN'S BUSINESS SECTION  
  
The largest and most destructive fire that the citizens of Jeffersontown were ever called upon to 
fight, swept through a large area of the business section Monday night.  All business houses on the 
north corner of the public square were razed by the flames, which were first discovered about 
11:30 by J. L. Wigginton...  As Mr. Wigginton ran from his room in the Haven Hotel, he noticed a 
blaze across the street in the rear of Young Bros. property.  Running back to Mr. Young's private 
garage, he discovered that a shed in front of the garage was in flames...  
  
All the buildings being frame structures, the flames spread swiftly from building to building until, 
within only a few minutes, the entire corner was ablaze.  
  
The telephone exchange being located on the second floor above Young Bros. store, the service was 
soon put out of commission.  The town fire truck, being close at hand, was gotten on the scene 
promptly and Chief Brooks and his men began fighting with the chemical apparatus, against the 
big odds.  Deckman made record time on his motorcycle to Louisville to request the aid of the city 
fire department.  In the meantime, men, women, and children answered the alarm from far and 
near, all aiding in the valiant fight to get the fire under control and salvage as much as could be 
taken from the burning buildings.  
  
When flames reached Wigginton's grocery its progress was not so swift, as the building was a log 
structure covered with siding which caused it to burn slower than the other buildings.  Next came 
the office of Myers and Blankenbaker Undertakers.  It was decided to wreck this building to 
prevent the flames from spreading to buildings up the street.  Before the wrecking was nearly 
completed, however, Louisville's No. 11 motorized engine was on the scene and had a big stream of 
water playing on the Wigginton building and then on the undertaker's office.  Thus the flames 
were soon under control.  
  



1921 
 
The list of those who suffered loss by the fire follows: Young Bros. -  Grocery, meat shop, soda 
fountain, ice cream plant, living apartments, Jeffersontown Battery Service, D. J. Gill - Harness 
and shoe repair shop, Cumberland Telephone Co. - J. W. Robinson, proprietor, Central Garage -
  Truck and passenger car, Wigginton and Giakalone, pool room and barber shop, J. L. 
Wigginton, grocery, Myers and Blankenbaker Undertakers, The Jeffersonian; November 17, 1921  

 
 

November 14, 1921:  A large fire in Jeffersontown, Kentucky, burned almost ½ the town due to all 
wood frame buildings.  They had one chemical unit, all communications were disrupted and they 
had to drive out of town to get help.  Louisville Fire Department sent an engine and a truck and St. 
Matthews sent manpower.   
 
Courtesy Jeffersontown Historic Museum, Beth Wilder,  November 1, 1921: 



 1921 
 

November 14, 1921:  A large fire in Jeffersontown, Kentucky, burned almost ½ the town due to all 
wood frame buildings.  They had one chemical unit, all communications were disrupted and they 
had to drive out of town to get help.  Louisville Fire Department sent an engine and a truck and St. 
Matthews sent manpower.   
 
Courtesy Jeffersontown Historic Museum, Beth Wilder,  November 1, 1921: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo may be of Stucky family home, which burned. 



1921 
 

Courtesy of Ekstrom Library, University of Louisville, December 12, 1921, Looking east on 
Frankfort Avenue at Cannon’s Lane. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1921 & 1922 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1922, WHAS Radio goes on the air, Louisville, first radio station. 
 

 



1922 
 

July 19 & 21, 1922, The Courier-Journal   STMFD Board Member 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



1922 
 

August 6, 1922, The Courier-Journal    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



1923  
 

Construction began on the second fire house in late 1923.  109 Breckinridge Lane.  Occupied from 
January, 1924 until 1942. 
 
In 1923 Mr. Jesse Ogden who owned the drugstore at the corner of Breckinridge Lane and 
Frankfort Avenue gave the department the use of a piece of property at 109 Breckinridge Lane.  
In late 1923 Mr. Lawrence Stich started construction on the fire house at the agreed price of 
$700.00.  In January of 1924 the fire house was occupied.  It was big enough to hold one fire truck.  
After vacating this fire house years later it became a shoe store, operated by Rudy Lineback, a 
firefighter. In January of 1974 it was torn down and became a parking lot. 
 
Jesse Ogden owner of Ogden & Bushemier Pharmacy also had the alarm system moved to his 
store, and he became the departments alarm system, after they bought their first siren.  It was 
mounted on the side of Eline’s building.  Mr. Ogden would take the calls from the Drug Store and 
sound the siren from the store. 
November 21, 1973:  The Voice-Jeffersonian, by Nancy Garling:  Linebach mends last shoe:   
  
Thus the department now had a Chief, a few firefighters, a fire house, fire truck and an alarm 
system to notify the firefighters of a fire.  They also had one fire hydrant where Lexington Road 
and Frankfort Avenue met.  What more could you need? 

 

 
 
December 19, 1923, The Courier-Journal 

 



1923 
March 28, 1923, The Owensboro-Messenger       The Courier-Journal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

April 17, 1923, The Courier-Journal 



1923 
December 19, 1923, The Courier-Journal   December 31, 1923, The Courier-Journal 

 



1923 
 
Snapshots of St. Matthews in 1923:  A few of the structures and sites the STMFD had to protect in 
1923. 

Beargrass Church, June 6, 1923, ULPA 
1994.18.0375 

Greathouse School, June 16, 1923, ULPA 
1994.18.0376 University of Louisville, Photo-
graphic Archives  

Loading truck, St. Matthews, KY, 1923, ULPA 
1994.18.0377  University of Louisville, Photo-
graphic Archives  

Post Office, St. Matthews, KY, 1923ULPA 
1994.18.0378 University of Louisville, Photo-
graphic Archives  

Irish potatoes near St. Matthews, Unknown Date, KNU-1987PH2
-1644  Kentuckiana Digital Library   Great place for a field fire!! 

Courtesy St. Matthews The Crossroads of 
Beargrass, 1999, by Samuel W. Thomas. 



1924 
 
June 1924:  The St. Matthews Community Club was formed.  Its main function was to help the fire 
department and improve fire service throughout the community. 
 
August 22, 1924:  The Courier-Journal reported that the Community Club demonstrated its 
powers on firefighting by building a huge bon fire and then extinguishing the fire in record time. 
 
August 26, 1924:  First of the annual St. Matthews Festivals held in the triangle in St. Matthews 
(where the Vogue Theater is now located), sponsored by the Community Club.  The club raised 
money for community activities but the main recipient of the money was the fire department.  It 
became a tradition to start the parade with the Model T leading the way. 

 

November 24, 1924:   

COMMUNITY CLUB 
Meeting Brings Out Importance of Maintaining Fire Dept. – Members Active. 

 
The Building Committee, thru F. X. Schuler, reported the Engine house finished and occupied by 
the newly painted equipment.  It is estimated that about $100.00 is saved on its construction from 
the original figures of $800.00. 
 
Mr. J. J. Elder then introduced the speaker of the evening, Mr. Brady, who was sent by the 
Kentucky Actuarial Bureau.  Mr. Brady pointed out the importance of maintaining the fire 
apparatus, as negligence will cause heavy financial losses to residents in increased insurance rates.  
For instance under the new rules of the Bureau, 
which has now been cancelled, one business 
house saves $50.00 in annual insurance rates and 
a resident, whose name is omitted saves $93.00 in 
increased insurance rates.  An urgent appeal was 
made for everybody to pay their assessment to 
the Fire Association that all bills may be met 
when due and a surplus accumulated to be ready 
in case of an emergency or accident to the 
present equipment. 
 
Mr. Elder thanked Mr. Brady for kindness to 
talk to our Club.  Wm. J. Rueff for the 
Entertainment Committee promised to show the 
new Engine House all decorated up after the 
meeting and refreshments will be served in 
celebration of the event.   
 
January 6, 1924, The Courier-Journal 



1924 
 
January 4, 1924, Lexington Herald-Leader  February 28, 1924, The Courier-Journal 

 
May 2, 1924, The Courier-Journal 



1924 
 
May 22, 1924, The Courier-Journal 



1924 
 
June 8, 1924, The Courier-Journal    June 24, 1924, The Courier-Journal 

July 8, 1924, The Courier-Journal 



1924 
 
 July 8, 1924, The Courier-Journal 



1924 
 
 July 15, 1924, The Courier-Journal  August 22, 1924, The Courier-Journal 

September 30, 1924, The Courier-Journal 

October 17, 1924, The Courier-Journal 

November 6, 1924,The Courier-Journal 



 1923 & 1924 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Courtesy, A Walk With Ray, Memories of Raymond Joseph Kempf:    March 1924 
 

 

 

 

Board Of Directors 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
Gilbert T. Dick 
A. J. Eline 
Robert H. Nanz 
Phil G. Rueff 
William J. Rueff 
 

Officers 
 
Chief Andrew W. Neichter 
 
 
 

Firefighters 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
J. J. Butler 
R. S. Frank 
Richard C. Herdt 
Carl A. Hulswede, Sr. 
W. “Will” Lausman 
Francis Xavier Schuler 
George John Wurster 
 
In the 1920’s and 30’s many citizens helped the volunteers but 
were not on the “roster.” 

1923 
& 

1924 



1924 
 
The American Legion Post 180 started this year, and for many years they helped raise money for 
the department.  The importance of this can not be stressed enough.  Note many of the members 
names a involved with the fire service and community service at the time and without the money 
raised by the Legion there probably would not be a STMFD. 

 

Courtesy The Voice Of St. Matthews, September 27, 1956: 
 

Post 180 Formed First School Patrol In State 
Zachary Taylor Post No. 180 of the American Legion has been an important member of this 
community since January 13, 1925, when a charter was issued at the second Legion Post in 
Jefferson County. 
 
T. H. Huffman, Sr., was the first commander with R. J. Kleet the adjutant.  There were 34 charter 
members. 
 
R. W. Herr, R. J. Kleet, F. Y. Miller, C. N. Miller, C. A. Staebler, J. S. Osborn, C. D. Schinkle, 
Paul Bailey, Irwin P. Bauer, H. R. Bauer, G. M. Dahl, O. T. Kremp, Alvin Kidwell, J. C. Miller, 
Thomas Ray, C. A. Sargent, I. C. Rueff, Dr. A. D. Wetherby, Henry Bauer, James J. Butler, Jr., T. 
L. Dobson, J. B. Ferris, T. H. Huffman, S. C. Kriel, C. N. Littrell, G. W. Markwell, Dr. W. B. 
Standard, George Wurster, and H. B. Schlutz. 
 
Since 1925, Legionaries of Zachary Taylor have made numerous contributions towards the growth 
and advancement of this area—donations of time and money by there men could never be totaled. 
 
Activities of this Post, down through the years are many, such as the renovation of a country 
cemetery on the Old Brownsboro Road.   
 
The burial place of Zachary Taylor, the 12th President of the United States was in such a run 
down condition, that hardly anyone knew it was there.  Legionnaires spent many a weekend 
cleaning it up and getting it in shape for an inspection team of Senators and Congressmen from 
Washington to pass judgment as to whether it should be taken over by the Government. 
 
Today it stands a national shrine, the Zachary Taylor National Cemetery. 
 
Other promotions of this Post were the Flood Relief, Police Reserve, Junior Baseball and Softball, 
Sea Scouts, Milk Fund for Indigent Children, Bowling, Bond Drives, Scrap Drives, and numerous 
war efforts during World War II and the Korean Conflict.  Essay Contests, Scholastic Awards in 
all local schools and Safety Programs of all types. 
 
Probably the most outstanding contribution the Post made to this community and the State started 
in 1928 when a Safety Committee was formed.  Carl A. Hulsewede, Sr. was made chairman. 
 
After a survey, it was decided that the most important safety measures called for the protections of 
our school children at Greathouse and Holy Trinity Schools, both located, at that time, on the 
dangerous Shelbyville Road. 
 
This decision was presented to the schools, who were more that glad to go along with the idea of 
Zachary Taylor Post to form a School Boy Patrol.  The patrol was the first organization of its type 
in the State of Kentucky. 
 
It was credited with many firsts in the line of safety programs for school children.  Success was so 
great that Middletown, Lyndon, Holy Spirit, Dorsey and O’Bannon schools soon came into the 
family.  Zachary Taylor Post completely equipped these patrols with belts, badges, and rain 
equipment. 
 
The American Legion and Colonel Hulsewede were recognized by Governors Ruby Lafton and A. 
B. “Happy” Chandler for this great safety effort. 
 
The ladies Auxiliary of Zachary Taylor Post have been of tremendous help down through the 
years with all these various programs, especially their 
never ending work at the Veterans Hospital. 
 
Zachary Taylor Post has held its meetings in quite a 
few locations in the St. Matthews area, but now 
through the unselfish and untiring efforts of 
Lawrence Richter and his building committee, it has 
moved into a new home at 4848 Shelbyville Road. 



1924 
 
When completed, it will have a lighted athletic field, a picnic area with trees and shrubs, and 
auditorium seating 300 persons, and meeting halls for use by other Civic Clubs and a Club Room, 
truly a memorial to past and present Legionnaires. 
 
From its original 34 members, the Post has grown by leaps and bounds to its present 810 
members.  Its present officers are William Burwinkle, commander; Guthrie Meade, vice 
commander; A. Jackowiet, Jr., vice commander; Tom Webster, adjutant; Frank Becker, Finance 
officer; Louis Heiman, chaplain; C. A. Hulsewede, Jr., historian; Robert Seng, sergeant-at-arms; 
 
Robert McEnnis, server officer; Robert Dorsey, judge advocate; A. D. “Tony” Zehnder, ex-officio; 
and C. A. Schultz, Jack Correll, Roy Jackson, executive committee. 
 
Courtesy The Jeffersonian, September 13, 1934, 10 Years Ago:   
It was the year 1924 and lush pasturelands and potato fields surrounded the then rural area of St. 
Matthews, Kentucky.  This small community had seen many of its citizens go away and defend 
their country in World War I, some of them never to return.  However, out of those returning 
were many young veterans proud of their service in time of war and anxious to promote the 
principles of freedom and democracy. 
The American Legion, founded in 1919 and its aim was to organize all veterans in a comradeship 
for "GOD AND COUNTRY".  Following the National Organization, the American Legion of 
Kentucky was incorporated on May 31st of that year.  This was enough to stimulate the veterans 
of this community to organize and hold meetings preparatory to petitioning the American Legion 
Department of Kentucky for a charter.  In an assembled meeting at Eline Hall in December 1924, 
a motion was made to petition for a charter and that the post in named " Zachary Taylor 
".  Although other names had been proposed, it seemed fitting to those veterans present that our 
new post be named after the twelfth president who was buried nearby in a family plot on 
Brownsboro Road.  That family plot is now Zachary Taylor National Cemetery. 
The charter, granted April 25th, 1925 and the Ladies Auxiliary, Unit 180, chartered three years 
later on July 2nd, 1928.  Zachary Taylor, is an asset and a very real part of the community.  Its 
immediate goals were to promote peace, offer assistance to the veterans and their families, and to 
establish a service to the community.  Although the young organization was hard pressed to find 
and maintain a post home, through dedication and hard work these goals were accomplished and 
exceeded.  By 1932, with membership approaching two hundred, real progress had to occur. 
Child welfare was always foremost in the workings of Zachary Taylor Post, and it was here that 
the first Schoolboy Patrols were organized.  Highway markers were erected to caution people to 
drive carefully and protect children.  A Sea Scout unit, formed complete with the ship Zachary 
Taylor for those nautical outings and training.  Over the years, the post fielded and funded many 
baseball teams - American Legion Baseball, Little League Baseball and Jefferson League Baseball 
to mention a few. 
Picnics and fund raising events have always been a very important part of our service to the 
community.  Probably the "Granddaddy" of them all was the Labor Day Celebration that 
survived from the late thirties until the middle fifties.  It was held each year at the post home on St. 
Matthews Avenue and nearby Trinity Field.  For days, preparations were made for those big 
kettles of turtle soup and the carnival, and when the big day arrived, the crowds came and gave us 
their support.  The funds were placed in the welfare fund and countless acts of charity have been 
possible through these endeavors. 
Members purchased a house at 137 St. Matthews Avenue, on the corner of Westport Road.  They 
knocked out some walls and had the bar on the first floor and a meeting room on the second 
floor.  When World War II ended, they needed a larger place to hold the meetings, and began 
holding them in the St. Matthews Armory, now the sire of Trinity High School Arts Building. 
At a meeting in the late 40's a motion was made to find some property to build a new post 
home.  The site of the current home was found on Shelbyville Road, the membership voted on 
September 10th, 1951 to buy the property for $20,000.00 on a 96-month loan at $253.20 per month 
beginning on February 1st, 1952. 
A building fund, started in 1949, but construction costs for a first class post was high even then, 
and the means to raise money was limited.  However by 1955 the membership had reached nearly 
600 members and consisted of builders, architects, plumbers, masons, bricklayers, electricians, 
roofers, painters, carpenters, i.e., everyone you needed to build the post, so the membership voted 
to press on with the building.  The membership voted to sell part of the property to Austin Pryor 
( Now Frisch's ), in November 1954 for $38,500.00 in order for the massive amount of materials 
needed, and the members would do the work on a volunteer basis. 
The cornerstone was laid at the end of 1955, with the official dedication to that event on January 
21, 1956.  There was enough money left over on the original deal to install air conditioning, which 
was really going first class at that time.  The sale of a second piece of the front property to the 
Inland Oil Company ( Now Moby Dick ), provided the membership with money to furnish the 
completed post building.  Completed late that summer, the post home was dedicated on November 
11, 1956.  Past Commander Ed Zehnder donated the plaque on the flagpole, while the widow of 
PFC Clarence Young who was killed in Germany in 1944 donated the first flag. 
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Courtesy Al Ring from Plehn’s Bakery wall: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1925 
 
April 10, 1925, The Courier-Journal:  



 1925 
 
May 26, 1925, The Courier-Journal:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 October 27, 1925, The Courier-Journal 



 1925 
 
July 21, 1925, The Courier-Journal                    August 6, 1925, The Courier-Journal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   November 22, 1925, The Courier-Journal 
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December 28, 1925, The Courier-Journal 



 1925 
 
December 28, 1925, The Courier-Journal 



1925 & 1926 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Courtesy http://www.masonichomesky.com/index.cgi?id=40        Masonic Home coming to St. 
Matthews 

Board Of Directors 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
Gilbert T. Dick 
A. J. Eline 
R. H. Nanz 
Phil G. Rueff 
William J. Rueff 
 
 

Officers 
 
Chief Andrew W. Neichter 
 
 

Firefighters 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Irvin Bauer, start 1925 
Henry Bauer 
J. J. Butler 
J. Duvall, start 1925 
R. S. Frank 
Richard C. Herdt 
Carl A. Hulswede, Sr. 
R. J. Kleet 
W. “Will” Lausman 
Francis Xavier Schuler 
Justin Clyde Wilken 
Fred William Wootton, Jr., start 1926 
George John Wurster 
 
In the 1920’s and 30’s many citizens helped the volunteers 
but were not on the “roster.” 
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1926 
 

May, 1926, The Jeffersonian:   September 2, 1926, The Courier-Journal 
 

 

August,  1926, The Jeffersonian:   
 

September 19, 1926, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1926 
 

November 18, 1926, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1926 
 

November 25, 1926, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 26, 1926, Messenger-Inquirer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1927 
 

February 13, 1927, The Courier-Journal  February 15, 1927, Lexington Herald-Leader  

 
 
March, 1927, The Jeffersonian: 

March 22, 1927, The Park Daily News 



1927 
 

April 10, 1927, The Courier-Journal Masonic Home—they did STMFD printing for years  
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April 29, 1927, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
May 29, 1927, The Courier-Journal  



1927 
 

July 4, 1927, The Courier-Journal  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
July 31, 1927, The Courier=-Journal 



1927 
 

 
August 31, 1927, The Courier-Journal                      September 4, 1927, The Courier-Journal 



1927 
 

September 7, 1927, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Courtesy http://digital.library.louisville.edu/cdm4/item_viewer.php?CISOROOT=/
cs&CISOPTR=1300&CISOBOX=1&REC=13 
Ournal   Louisville station 21 made many runs with STMFD 



 1927 
 
By 1927 the department was slowly getting into trouble.  With little money and man-power the fire 
truck was in terrible condition. Without funds, training and other items the department was headed 
down-hill. 
 
September 24, 1927:  Annual St. Matthews Festival.  Sponsored by the  Community Club.  All funds 
derived from the picnic go toward the purchase of a motor-pumper to reduce the fire hazard and 
insurance rates of the Community.  The town chemical engine advertising the outing-Saturday was 
driven through the streets with a sign bearing the inscription saying “I DO NOT CHOOSE TO RUN 
IN 1928 
 
 

 



1927 
 

Courtesy Bernie Bowling:   1927                              Plehn’s Bakery 



1927 
 

Courtesy, Ekstrom Library, University of Louisville, CSO 82589, View southeast from south side of Lex-
ington Road (in foreground) Green houses at left center are on east side of Breckenridge Lane.  Septem-
ber 10, 1927 

 

Courtesy St. Matthews Crossroads of Beargrass, 1999, by Samuel W. Thomas, Advertisement from The 
Courier-Journal, April 3, 1927. 



1927 
 

September 27, 1927, The Courier-Journal 



1927 & 1928 

Board Of Directors 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
Gilbert T. Dick 
A. J. Eline 
Robert H. Nanz 
Phil G. Rueff 
William J. Rueff 

Officers 
 
Chief Andrew W. Neichter 
 
 
 

Firefighters 
 

T. A. Baker 
A. W. Bauer 
Irvin Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
J. J. Butler 
J. Duvall 
R. S. Frank 
John Haeberlin, start 1928 
Richard C. Herdt 
Carl A. Hulswede, Sr. 
R. J. Kleet 
W. “Will” Lausman 
Francis Xavier Schuler 
Justin Clyde Wilken 
Fred William Wootton, Jr. 
George John Wurster 
Raymond A. “Bud” Young 
 
In the 1920’s and 30’s many citizens helped the volunteers but 
were not on the “roster.” 
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1928 
 

Courtesy, Ekstrom Library, University of Louisville, CSO 91322, St. Matthews, April 6, 1928 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Courtesy St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass, 1999, by Samuel W. Thomas.  Bauer Broth-
ers Grocery, 1928, is not the site of National City Bank’s St. Matthews branch.  Caufield & Shook 
collection 94444, University of Louisville Photographic Archives.   



1928 
 

January 15, 1928, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
February 4, 1928, The Courier-Journal 

Courtesy https://historiclouisville.weebly.com/east--some-
suburbs.html#PhotoSwipe1536980957473 



1928 
 

Courtesy, The Voice Of St. Matthews, June 19, 1958: 
 

This was going on in 1928 and 1929 in St. Matthews 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 



1929 
 

January 24, 1993, The Courier-Journal  February 16, 1929, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1929 
 

September 18, 1929, The Courier-Journal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 19, 1993, The Courier-Journal, 125 Anniversary. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1929 
 
The Actuary Bureau told the town to get a new fire truck or risk or losing classification resulting 
in increased insurance rates to residents.  The Model T was not modern enough or large enough 
to protect the growing community.  
 
February 2, 1938, The Jeffersonian, 10 Years Ago, 1929—-Wootton is a STMFD Firefighter 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
June 15, 1929, The Jeffersonian: 
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Board Of Directors 
 

A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
Gilbert T. Dick 
A. J. Eline 
Robert H. Nanz 
Phil G. Rueff 
William J. Rueff 

Officers 
 
Chief Andrew W. Neichter 

Firefighters 
 

T. A. Baker 
A. W. Bauer 
Henry Bauer 
Irvin Bauer 
J. J. Butler 
J. Duvall 
R. S. Frank 
John Haeberlin 
Richard C. Herdt 
Ted H. Huffman Sr. 

1929 


